

# Project no.: 608608

# Project acronym: MiReCOL

# Project title: Mitigation and remediation of leakage from geological storage

**Collaborative Project** 

Start date of project: 2014-03-01 Duration: 3 years

## D3.5

# Blocking of CO<sub>2</sub> movement by immobilization of CO<sub>2</sub> in solid reaction products

Revision: 3

# Organisation name of lead contractor for this deliverable: **TNO**

Project co-funded by the European Commission within the Seventh Framework Programme		
Dissemination Level		
PU	Public	Х
PP Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services)		
<b>RE</b> Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services)		
СО	Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services)	



Deliverable number:	D3.5
Deliverable name:	Blocking of $CO_2$ movement by immobilization of $CO_2$ in solid reaction products
Work package:	WP 3: CO <sub>2</sub> flow diversion and mobility control within the reservoir
Lead contractor:	TNO

Status of deliverable			
Action	Ву	Date	
Submitted (Author(s))	Laura Wasch	07 July 2016	
Verified (WP-leader)	Robert Drysdale	01 Aug 2016	
Approved (SP-leader)	Cornelia Schmidt-Hattenberger	18 Aug 2016	

Author(s)				
Name	Organisation	E-mail		
Laura Wasch	TNO	Laura.wasch@tno.com		

#### **Public abstract**

This report is part of the research project MiReCOL (Mitigation and Remediation of  $CO_2$  leakage) funded by the EU FP7 program<sup>1</sup>. Research activities aim at developing a handbook of corrective measures that can be considered in the event of undesired migration of  $CO_2$  in the deep subsurface reservoirs. MiReCOL results support  $CO_2$  storage project operators in assessing the value of specific corrective measures if the  $CO_2$  in the storage reservoir does not behave as expected. MiReCOL focuses on corrective measures that can be taken while the  $CO_2$  is in the deep subsurface. The general scenarios considered in MiReCOL are 1) loss of conformance in the reservoir (undesired migration of  $CO_2$  within the reservoir), 2) natural barrier breach ( $CO_2$  migration through faults or fractures), and 3) well barrier breach ( $CO_2$  migration along the well bore).

In the unlikely case of localized  $CO_2$  leakage from a storage reservoir, it is desirable to close the leak quickly, efficiently and permanently. This could be done by injection of material in the leak path, thereby blocking the flow. With regard to permanent closure, it is straightforward to look into materials that occur naturally in the subsurface, since they are stable in the long-term, ensuring permanent  $CO_2$  containment in the storage site. This report describes a numerical modelling approach to assess the feasibility of injecting lime-saturated water as a  $CO_2$ -reactive solution to form -calcite, block  $CO_2$  flow and remediate leakage. We performed reactive transport simulations with the software TOUGHREACT. A 3D model was developed of a  $CO_2$  reservoir at the bottom, an aquifer at the top and a cell connecting the two layers, representing a caprock leakage pathway (such as a permeable fault or along a wellbore). A  $CO_2$  plume was developed in the top aquifer by defining a leak in the caprock. The initial state of a  $CO_2$  plume present takes into account the time required for a plume to become large enough to be detected by monitoring techniques.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> More information on the MiReCOL project can be found at <u>www.mirecol-co2.eu</u>.



A scenario analysis was performed to assess the effectivity and efficiency of the remediation method and evaluate the uncertainty related to the key parameters. The scenarios represent a range of possible characteristics of the storage reservoir and the leak that could affect the leakage remediation method. The key parameters include: reservoir pressure, gas saturation below the leak, permeability, leakage rate, injection distance from the leak and injection rate. Results for leakage reduction were obtained during and after remediation. This showed that leakage is affected by the injection of water and pressure changes (hydraulic remediation) as well as clogging of the pore space (chemical remediation). Of the two, only the chemical part remains after injection is stopped. Modelling showed that injection of the reactive solution in a CO<sub>2</sub>containing rock does not yield enough calcite, while full porosity clogging requires additional supply of CO<sub>2</sub> by the leak itself. Hence the leak should be maintained to allow the build-up of calcite until full porosity clogging is achieved. This situation requires a balance of injection rate, leakage rate, injection rate and reaction rate. The scenarios analysed indicated certain combinations of conditions and parameters which promoted chemical clogging. Scenarios showed a success of leakage remediation varying between 0 and 95%. The degree of leakage reduction can be used to calculate the likelihood of success of remediation and provide input for the MiReCOL webtool. This tool will help site owners to find appropriate remediation methods in the unlikely case that CO<sub>2</sub> leakage occurs.

#### Public introduction (\*)

 $CO_2$  capture and storage (CCS) has the potential to reduce significantly the carbon emission that follows from the use of fossil fuels in power production and industry. Integrated demo-scale projects are currently being developed to demonstrate the feasibility of CCS and the first such projects are expected to start operating in Europe under the Storage Directive in the period 2015 – 2020. For the license applications of these projects a corrective measures plan is mandatory, describing the measures to be taken in the unlikely event of  $CO_2$  leakage. This project will support the creation of such corrective measures plans and help to build confidence in the safety of deep subsurface  $CO_2$  storage, by laying out a toolbox of techniques available to mitigate and/or remediate undesired migration or leakage of  $CO_2$ . The project is particularly aimed at (new) operators and relevant authorities.

The MiReCOL project investigates various techniques for control of  $CO_2$  migration including: i) injection strategy, ii) gel or foam injection, iii) water or brine injection and iv) injection of chemicals which react with  $CO_2$  and precipitate it as a solid.

The results of this work will contribute to later activities that will assess the effectiveness and consequences of all leakage mitigation measures, leading to the production of a Corrective Measures Handbook.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page

1	INTR	ODUCTION	2
2	METI	HODS	4
	2.1	Simulator	4
	2.2	Workflow	4
		2.2.1 Mesh making	4
		2.2.2 Initialization of conditions prior to CO <sub>2</sub> storage	5
		2.2.3 Initialization of chemistry and conditions after CO <sub>2</sub> storage	5
		2.2.4 Initialization of the CO <sub>2</sub> Leak	6
		2.2.5 Injection of the lime-saturated fluid	6
		2.2.6 Equilibration stage	8
	2.3	Scenarios	8
		2.3.1 Injection rate & distance	8
		2.3.2 Permeability, pressure & gas saturation	9
3	LEAF	KAGE REMEDIATION BY SOLID REACTANTS	11
	3.1	The process of reactive clogging	.11
4	UNC	ERTAINTY ANALYSIS	14
	4.1	Leakage scenarios	14
	4.2	Remediation scenarios	14
		4.2.1 Effect of permeability, injection rate and injection distance	14
		4.2.2 Effect of reservoir pressure and gas saturation	17
		4.2.3 Sensitivity to the porosity-permeability relationship	18
	4.3	Equilibration	. 19
	4.4	Remediation efficiency	20
5	DISC	USSION	23
6	CON	CLUSION	24
7	REFE	ERENCES	25



#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

To store  $CO_2$  permanently in the subsurface, reservoirs are selected that provide physical and chemical containment of  $CO_2$ . However, future control on the movement of  $CO_2$  is asked for in the unlikely case that  $CO_2$  migrates out of its intended storage reservoir. Flow control measures are developed to demonstrate possibilities for preventing  $CO_2$  leakage to overlying aquifers or to the surface, safeguarding the contribution of the stored  $CO_2$  in reducing global warming. Immobilizing migrating  $CO_2$  by consuming the gas and forming solid reactants is a relatively new field. Flow control by precipitating solids in the pore space has been practiced in the oil and gas industry in the context of 'water shut-off', blocking water production from high permeable layers and enhancing oil production from low permeable layers. Plugging agents such as foams and polymers are generally used, but for permanent  $CO_2$ immobilization they lack the proven long-term stability in the subsurface. Forming mineral solid reactants will have the advantage of creating a naturally stable barrier against  $CO_2$  flow.

Experience with unintentional precipitation or scaling and formation damage, as commonly encountered in the oil and gas or geothermal industries, sheds some light onto the possibilities for forming solid reactants. Minerals observed to form 'naturally' within the reservoir may all be potential candidates for controlled precipitation. Frequently occurring scales associated with oil and gas production are calcite, anhydrite, barite, celestite, gypsum, iron sulphide and halite (Cowan and Weintritt, 1976). Re-injection of production water is prone to scaling of calcium carbonate (Rocha et al., 2001, Moghadasi et al 2004, Birkle et al., 2008), while strontium, barium and calcium sulphates are more relevant for seawater injection (Delshad & Pope, 2003, Mota et al., 2004, Bedrikovetsky et al., 2006). Water injection in geothermal systems may involve precipitation of carbonates, silica (polymorphs), metal compounds (oxides hydroxides sulphides sulphate) and clays (e.g. Kuhn et al., 1997, Tarcan, 2005, Izgec et al. 2005, Regenspurg et al., 2010). The possibilities of precipitation due to water injection have been recognized by Nasr-El-Din et al. (2004), who aimed to achieve selective plugging by introducing fluid which is chemically incompatible with the reservoir brine, thereby causing mineral precipitation. In addition to fluid-fluid reactions, fluid-gas interaction may promote mineralization. Linked to well abandonment after CO<sub>2</sub> storage Wasch et al. (2013) proposed controlled intentional clogging with salt to prevent possible leakage of CO<sub>2</sub>. Salt will precipitate when the solubility is exceeded due to evaporation into injected dry gas. This process is similar to salt scaling in natural gas and oil production (e.g. Kleinitz et al., 2001) and CO<sub>2</sub> injection in saline aquifers (e.g. Pruess and Müller, 2009, Zeidouni et al., 2009) and depleted gas fields (Giorgis et al., 2007 and Tambach et al., 2014). After injection, slower mineralization reactions between the stored CO<sub>2</sub> and the host rock may occur on the longer term. Much research has been done on this topic since these reactions provide permanent trapping and increased the storage safety (e.g. of Gaus, 2010).



Previous work on the induced formation of solid reactants for leakage remediation concerns calcite or silica. Bio-mineralization has been proposed for engineering biofilms covering grains subsequently forming carbonate by ureolysis (Mitchell et al., 2009, Cunningham et al., 2011). Carbonate can also be directly formed by injecting reactive suspensions or solutions into the  $CO_2$  containing environment (Ito et al., 2014). Ito et al., (2014) report experiments and modelling of a chemical substance that will react with CO<sub>2</sub> to form a barrier for further CO<sub>2</sub> leakage. They injected both silica and calcium grouts into synthetic porous medium of glass beads. The experimental results support the feasibility of the method for reactive clogging of a high permeable leak path. Druhan et al. (2014) numerically investigated amorphous silica formation adapted for a higher molecular volume analogues to silica polymers. We investigated the feasibility of injecting a CO<sub>2</sub>-reactive and CO<sub>2</sub>-consuming reactive solution. Limesaturated water is selected which reacts readily upon contact with CO<sub>2</sub>. This approach has the advantage that reactions can be modelled with available software and databases without modifications. Furthermore a solution will have a low viscosity, which simplifies injection. The production and practical use of such a fluid is beyond the scope of this study. The results derived for the lime solution will provide general insight in leakage mitigation using non-swelling CO<sub>2</sub> reactive substances.



### 2 METHODS

#### 2.1 Simulator

The simulations were performed with the TOUGHREACT reactive transport flow simulator, using the Petrasim interface. TOUGHREACT has been developed for coupled modeling of subsurface multiphase fluid and heat flow, solute transport, and chemical reactions by introducing reactive transport into the flow simulator TOUGH2 (Xu et al., 2006). TOUGH2 is a numerical simulation program for multi-dimensional fluid and heat flow of multiphase, multicomponent fluid mixtures in porous and fractured media (Pruess et al., 1999). We used the ECO2N fluid property module for  $CO_2$  and brine mass transfer including the thermodynamics and thermophysical properties of  $H_2O$ -NaCl-CO<sub>2</sub> mixtures (Pruess, 2005). The mineral reaction kinetics are included for the solid reactant using reaction rates of Palandri and Kharaka (2004).

#### 2.2 Workflow

#### 2.2.1 Mesh making

The model was developed to represent a  $CO_2$  storage site with a  $CO_2$  storage reservoir, a caprock and an overlying aquifer (Figure 1, image 0). The dimensions are 200\*200\*140 meter and the model was arbitrarily located between 2000 and 2140 m depth. Vertical sub-layering was chosen to obtain more detail in the top aquifer where leakage remediation is required (Table 1). For the x,y direction a custom regular grid was defined (

Table 2). Note that the grid is asymmetric and has finer gridding at the right side where injection is envisaged. We developed a model to find an optimum between model size and grid refinement within the maximum of 8000 active cells allowed by TOUGHREACT.

	Total thickness (m)	Number of layers	Layer thickness (m)
Top aquifer	80	1	24
		3	13 1/3
		3	5 1/3
Caprock	20	1	20
Storage reservoir	40	3	13 1/3

Table 1.Model layering (z direction).

Table 2. Cell sizes in the x and y direction.

number of cells	1	4	2	1	10	2	1	1
cell size (m)	30	15	4	2	4	15	30	30



The rock properties were based on the P18 field with a reservoir porosity of 15% and flow properties as listed in Table 3. Preliminary modelling showed that the permeability of the aquifer is the limiting factor for the leakage rate and a higher permeability for the leak path through the caprock does not increase the leakage rate significantly. Hence for simplicity the flow properties of the aquifer, caprock (leak) and reservoir were taken equal. Only for the leak the vertical permeability is not decreased by a factor of ten.

	Permeability		
	(mD)	(m <sup>2</sup> )	
Horizontal (kh)	20	2E-14	
Vertical (kv)	2	2E-15	
	Relative permeability		
	Slr	Sgr	
Corey's Curves	0.18	0.121	
	Capillary pressure		
	P0	Slr	
Leverett's function	1.00E+06	0.18	

Table 3. Rock properties.

#### 2.2.2 Initialization of conditions prior to CO<sub>2</sub> storage

The initial conditions for model initialization are 200 bar pressure, 1E-10 gas saturation and a 0.06 salt mass fraction. Note that the gas saturation is close to zero and hence resembles an aquifer before  $CO_2$  storage. The temperature is selected to be 80 °C and non-isothermal behaviour is neglected. The model is run for 20,000 years for initialization, distributing the pressure, gas saturation and brine composition with depth according gravitational forces. The caprock was set to permeable to allow for pressure distribution. The resulting pressure with depth is shown in Figure 1.

#### 2.2.3 Initialization of chemistry and conditions after CO<sub>2</sub> storage

The initialized conditions of the previous step were used and chemical properties were included. The whole model was assigned the same formation water. The formation water composition was calculated in a separate batch model, equilibrating NaCl brine with a simple sandstone mineralogy (

Table 4 and Table 5). Only the water is used for further modelling, reservoir rock – fluid/gas reactions are neglected given short time of interest for leakage remediation. To aid chemical convergence a mineralogy was defined with only (nearly inert) quartz.

The reservoir is subsequently filled with  $CO_2$  by assigning the cells a gas saturation of 80%. Two situations were considered: a) hydrostatic pressure in the reservoir as for storage in a depleted gasfield and b) 20 bar overpressure to represent aquifer storage (Figure 1, images 2a/2b). The caprock was disabled and the leak pathway was assigned a zero permeability to obtain initial containment of  $CO_2$  in the reservoir. The model was ran for 2 years to initialize pressure and gas saturation, furthermore the water chemistry in the reservoir was allowed to equilibrate with  $CO_2$ .



 Table 4.
 Mineralogy for calculating of the formation water.

Mineral	Volume fraction
Quartz(alpha)	0.7
Microcline	0.1
Illite(Al)	0.1
Albite(high)	0.1

Table 5. Formation water composition.

Formation water (mol/L)			
Cl	1		
Na+	9.99E-01		
H4SiO4	7.30E-04		
K+	1.09E-03		
Al	3.04E-07		
рН	8.03		

#### 2.2.4 Initialization of the CO<sub>2</sub> Leak

The initialized conditions of the previous step were used and the caprock leak cell was enabled with a permeability equal to the horizontal permeability the aquifer. The lateral boundary conditions are open (i.e. given a 1E50 volume factor) to allow free flow away and towards the leak. Top and lower boundary conditions are closed, assuming impermeable bounding formations. The leakage rate is allowed to develop following the pressure and saturation conditions and the flow properties. Buoyancy drives  $CO_2$  upwards forming a plume of  $CO_2$  in the aquifer above the leak (Figure 1, image 3). Since MiReCOL aims to supply mitigation methods for the case of an existing leak, we allow a plume to develop for a period of 10 years. This period is arbitrarily chosen, but should allow for a leak to become substantially large enough to be detected by monitoring even though the flow rate is small.

#### 2.2.5 Injection of the lime-saturated fluid

After the  $CO_2$  plume is established, a  $CO_2$  reactive fluid is injected (Figure 1, image 4). We study injection into an aquifer above the storage reservoir. This method would have several advantages over injection in the reservoir itself. The caprock does not have to be penetrated by a new well, and hence no additional leakage risk is created. Gravitational effects of the dense liquid help suppress the leaking gas. In contrast, injection below the caprock may cause the liquid to sink and move away from the leak as buoyant  $CO_2$  flows upwards. A disadvantage of injection above the leak is that the characteristics of the top aquifer may be poorly known while – especially for a depleted gas field – flow properties and pressure response are far better understood for the reservoir itself.





Figure 1. Step 1 to 4 of the workflow.

Injection of the solution is implemented by defining a *source* cell with a specific (limesaturated) water flux. Note that the injection rate is constant and cannot be defined as being dependent on pressure with TOUGHREACT. As a result, pressure rises due to water injection. When the area above the leak is near complete clogging, injection becomes difficult and pressure may rise severely, while in reality the injection rate would be lowered and eventually stopped when reaching a certain pressure. Note that models are run until permeability and pressure changes hamper further injection, affecting the remediation time.

We used a calcium solution (lime-equilibrated) to stimulate calcite when reacted with dissolved  $CO_2$  (Equation 1). The reactive solution has a calcium concentration of 0.68 mol/kg water and a pH of 12. All cells were assigned a porosity-permeability relationship to model the effect of precipitation on the  $CO_2$  leakage. We used the porosity permeability relationship of Verma-Pruess as implemented in TOUGHREACT



Page 8

(Xu et al., 2006). The relation uses two parameters, a critical porosity (the porosity at which the permeability is reduced to zero) and a power law exponent (defining the rate at which the permeability decreases). We assumed a critical porosity of 12%, and a power law exponent of 8. These numbers are rock dependent and probably not known for many aquifers, hence the effect is studied in a sensitivity analyses.

 $Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow CaCO_3$ 

Equation 1

#### 2.2.6 Equilibration stage

After injection of the reactive solution an equilibration stage is run to establish equilibrium after the remediation stage. After injection is stopped, flow occurs according to the pressure and saturation gradients created during injection of the reactive solution. This step will indicate if leakage will commence again or if further migration of  $CO_2$  is prevented and is crucial to assess the success of remediation and the longevity of leakage reduction.

#### 2.3 Scenarios

Several factors determine whether or not the solid reactant successfully remediates unwanted migration of  $CO_2$ . For successful clogging there should be a balance between the injection rate, leakage rate and reaction rate to ensure that sufficient solids form at the right location. The leakage rate is controlled by the pressure difference between the reservoir and the top aquifer, and by the flow properties of the leak. To consider a range in leakage rates, several simulations were run with varying key parameters.

#### 2.3.1 Injection rate & distance

The injection rate and distance from the leak are parameters that are not site specific but can, to a certain degree, be controlled by the operator. We investigated a range to take into account the uncertainty linked to the seismic resolution or other monitoring techniques (not allowing for a precise determination of the location of the leak), and uncertainty in permeability and pressure response of the aquifer (causing injection not be executed as planned). The three selected injection locations are indicated in a cross-section of the model, also showing the  $CO_2$  plume (Figure 2). The distance of injection to the leak point is 3, 11 and 19 meters (based on the cell centres). The selected injection rates range between 1 and 20 kg/s/cell and are considered to be achievable injection rates. Injection is specified for a column of three cells representing a perforation interval of 15 meters. Note that the total injection should be summed for the three injection cells, and hence for a rate of 10 kg/s/cell this is 30 kg/s in total, which is approximately 100 m3/hr of fluid down the well.





Figure 2. Cross section of the model with red squares indicating the three perforation intervals for injection of the reactive solution. The colour scale is for gas saturation, indicating the  $CO_2$  plume above a leak path and the  $CO_2$  reservoir below.

#### 2.3.2 Permeability, pressure & gas saturation

The range in permeability scenarios is assumed to represent relevant values, not too low that water injection becomes challenging and up to values of a reasonable reservoir rock (Table 6). Pressure conditions will be different for different types of storage sites. We distinguished between overpressurised and hydrostatic pressures. The first represents aquifer storage where the pressure increases during  $CO_2$  injection. Hydrostatic pressure conditions are as would be expected for  $CO_2$  storage in a depleted gas field where an empty field is filled until hydrostatic pressure is regained. We used two saturations, close to fully saturated (Sg of 0.9) and 30% gas saturated. These values represent end members of gas saturation in a storage reservoir, high close the well and low further into the  $CO_2$  plume. The selected pressure and saturation conditions yield three scenarios (Table 7). Although pressure boundary conditions also affect the leakage rate, open boundary conditions are used assuming an infinite aquifer and reservoir with respect to the 200 m cube model.

Permeability scenario	<i>Reservoir/ aquifer</i> Kh (mD)	Kv (mD)	<i>Leak</i> Kh (mD)
1	20	2	20
2	200	20	200
3	400	40	400
4	800	80	800

Table 6.Scenarios for permeability of the reservoir, aquifer and leak.



Reservoir	Reservoir type						
scenario	Pressure	Gas saturation					
а	20 bar overpressure	Saturated (0.9)					
b	hydrostatic	Saturated (0.9)					
c	20 bar overpressure	Undersaturated (0.3)					



# **3** LEAKAGE REMEDIATION BY SOLID REACTANTS

#### **3.1** The process of reactive clogging

The characteristics of clogging are discussed for a scenario of injection at 11 m distance from the leak with an injection rate of 5 kg/s/cell in an overpressurized reservoir of 200 mD permeability. Since gas in the pore space is pushed away by injection of the reactive solution, the pressure rises (Figure 3 a) and the gas saturation drops (Figure 3 b). The 10 bar pressure rise falls within the approximately 20% pressure increase allowable for water injection.



Figure 3. Results for several parameters in 80 by 90 m details of a y-axis cross section through the centre of the model. Injection of the CO<sub>2</sub> reactive solution is characterized by: a) pressure increase, b) gas saturation decrease, c) high pH zone within the low pH CO<sub>2</sub> plume, d/c) high HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and Ca<sup>+</sup> concentrations at the front of the injected solution, e) calcite precipitation, g/h) porosity and permeability decrease due to calcite precipitation, i) co-injected Br<sup>-</sup> tracer showing the extent of the injected fluid.



The high pH calcium solution (Figure 3 c) is injected into the  $CO_2$  plume where the dissolved  $CO_2$  (Figure 3 d) combines with calcium (Figure 3 e) to form calcite (Figure 3 f). Since most dissolved  $CO_2$  is consumed by the reaction, new calcite forms at the front of the injected solution where  $HCO_3^-$  is still present. In addition, the leak itself provides  $CO_2$  for the formation of calcium carbonate. This is favorable for the remediation process since this calcite forms right above the leak, clogging the pore space and decreasing porosity (Figure 3 g) and permeability (Figure 3 h).

Successful remediation is defined as mitigation of unwanted migration of  $CO_2$  by blocking the pore space. This is shown by the reduction in flow rate through the leak path and calcite precipitation above the leak (Figure 4 and Figure 5). The first drop in leakage rate is due to the injected water and the related pressure increase. At this stage, the reactive solution did not reach the leak yet (Figure 5, t = 0.5 day). The second reduction in flow occurs when the reactive fluid reaches the leak point and calcite starts to precipitate and clog the pore space (Figure 4 and Figure 5, t = 3 days). With continuous injection, the flow of  $CO_2$  changes direction as it is pushed downwards (Figure 5, t = 6 days). The leakage rate is reduced to zero (Figure 4), suggesting successful remediation. The success of the remediation could be expressed as the degree of leakage reduction from the initial flow rate to the flow rate at the end of remediation. In this case that would be 100%.

To test whether the mitigation of unwanted  $CO_2$  migration remains successful in time, the flow is studied after injection is stopped (when the permeability becomes too low for further injection). For this stage some leakage is re-established after the complete leakage reduction during remediation (Figure 6). This can be explained since the remediation during injection is a combined chemical and hydraulic process, meaning that flow through the leak is suppressed by a reduction in permeability and by the additional pressure of water injection. When no more water is injected, the chemical remediation remains, which yields in this case a leakage reduction of 95%. Hence the actual success of remediation is 95% instead of a 100%.



Figure 4. Graph of the leakage rate through the caprock (z direction) and the calcite content in the cell above the leak (same scale used). With time, more calcite precipitates and the leakage rate decreases.





Figure 5. Gas saturation (in colour) and flow (vectors) for three time steps and associated calcite precipitation below. As more reactive solution is injected, it reaches the leak (t = 2 days) and overflows it (t = 6 days). Direct CO<sub>2</sub> leakage into the solution above, increases calcite forming until gas flow is inverted after 6 days of injection.



Figure 6. Graph of the leakage rate through the caprock (z direction) and the calcite content in the cell above the leak (same scale used). With time after remediation, calcite remains stable while leakage re-established to some degree.



# 4 UNCERTAINTY ANALYSIS

#### 4.1 Leakage scenarios

Scenarios for the *initial* leakage rate were based on the different pressure conditions and the geological variability as defined in section 2.3.2. For the 'overpressurized, high gas saturation reservoir' scenarios the leakage rates range from 0.27 to 10.93 mton for different permeabilities (1a to 4a, Table 8). Basically, double the permeability yields twice as fast leakage. This linear relation is shown for all three reservoir types, although the absolute leakage rates are far lower. The lower leakage rate is due to the smaller pressure gradient for the hydrostatic scenarios (1b to 4b, Table 8) and due to the lower gas content for the low saturation scenarios (1c to 4c, Table 8). The low saturation scenarios yield mobile water and hence leakage of water (and dissolved  $CO_2$ ) as well as gaseous  $CO_2$ . Since the overpressurized, high saturation scenarios 1a to 4a yield the most variation in leakage rates, these 4 scenarios were selected for the uncertainty assessment. Each scenario is applied to the three storage types (Table 8).

Leakage	Permabillity	Aquife	er	Leak	Reservoir scenario Leak		Leakage rates	
scenario name	Scenario	Kh (mD)	Kv (mD)	Kh (mD)			Gas (mton/yr)	Water (mton/yr)
1a	1	20	2	20	а	0.9 SG, P + 20 bar	0.27	0
2a	2	200	20	200	а	0.9 SG, P + 20 bar	2.71	0
За	3	400	40	400	а	0.9 SG, P + 20 bar	5.39	0
4a	4	800	80	800	а	0.9 SG, P + 20 bar	10.93	0
1b	1	20	2	20	b	0.9 SG, P hydrostatic	0.02	0
2b	2	200	20	200	b	0.9 SG, P hydrostatic	0.18	0
3b	3	400	40	400	b	0.9 SG, P hydrostatic	0.36	0
4b	4	800	80	800	b	0.9 SG, P hydrostatic	0.72	0
1c	1	20	2	20	с	0.3 SG, P+20 bar	0.01	0.01
2с	2	200	20	200	с	0.3 SG, P+20 bar	0.12	0.13
Зс	3	400	40	400	с	0.3 SG, P+20 bar	0.24	0.26
4c	4	800	80	800	с	0.3 SG, P+20 bar	0.47	0.52

Table 8.Leakage scenarios and resulting leakage rates for the combinations of 4<br/>permeability and 3 reservoir scenarios. SG is the CO2 gas saturation.

#### 4.2 Remediation scenarios

#### 4.2.1 Effect of permeability, injection rate and injection distance

The remediation scenarios were run for four of the leakage scenarios described above, thus considering four permeability's and corresponding leakage rates as starting points for remediation (1a to 4a, Table 8). The remediation scenarios are combinations of 4 injection rates and 3 injection locations, yielding 48 scenarios. The success of these scenarios at the end of the injection process, in terms of the change in leakage rate, is reported in Table 9. Note that the low permeability did not allow high injection rates, and hence these scenarios could not be run. Leakage can be reduced more than a 100



per cent if flow is inverted through the leak path. For all permeabilities and related leakage rates, a full decrease in leakage rate can be achieved given a right combination of injection distance and injection rate. For higher permeabilities, higher injection rates are required to achieve successful remediation. This is most pronounced for the highest permeability, yielding complete success only for injection at 3 meter distance. It appears that injection close to the leak point or faster injection will generally increase the likelihood of success for leakage reduction during the remediation procedure.

 Table 9.
 Scenario overview for the change in leakage rate (%). The colours show a ranking from more (green) to less (red) successful scenarios. Scenarios that did not run are shown in grey.

Injection	Permeability	Injection rate			
distance (m)	kh, kv (mD)	1 (kg/s/cell)	5 (kg/s/cell)	10 (kg/s/cell)	20 (kg/s/cell)
3	20, 2	-103			
3	200, 20	-100	-102	-101	-97
3	400, 40	-68	-100	-102	-101
3	800, 80	-41	-100	-100	-108
11	20, 2	-101	-113		
11	200, 20	-39	-100	-100	-107
11	400, 40	-22	-83	-97	-100
11	800, 80	-14	-47	-76	-85
19	20, 2	-64	-114		
19	200, 20	-28	-65	-72	-102
19	400, 40	-13	-43	-45	-72
19	800, 80	-3	-23	-19	-40

Table 10.Scenario overview for calcite precipitation (volume factor) above the leak.The colours show a ranking from more (green) to less (red) successful<br/>scenarios. Scenarios that did not run are shown in grey.

Injection	Permeability	Injection rate			
distance (m)	kh, kv (mD)	1 (kg/s/cell)	5 (kg/s/cell)	10 (kg/s/cell)	20 (kg/s/cell)
3	20, 2	5.1E-03			
3	200, 20	1.8E-02	4.4E-03	3.9E-03	9.7E-04
3	400, 40	1.5E-02	1.3E-02	3.7E-03	4.2E-03
3	800, 80	1.3E-02	1.7E-02	1.3E-02	2.1E-03
11	20, 2	7.8E-03	5.5E-03		
11	200, 20	1.1E-02	1.9E-02	7.7E-03	3.9E-03
11	400, 40	9.2E-03	1.4E-02	1.1E-02	6.2E-03
11	800, 80	8.7E-03	1.2E-02	1.3E-02	9.9E-03
19	20, 2	1.8E-05	9.8E-06		
19	200, 20	4.8E-03	7.9E-03	7.9E-04	6.6E-05
19	400, 40	1.7E-03	7.5E-03	4.9E-04	5.2E-05
19	800, 80	3.4E-04	6.7E-03	3.5E-05	1.9E-05



As mentioned before, stopping flow through the leak path is a combined effect of injection of water and clogging of the pore space by the solid reactant. Comparing the amount of calcite formed above the leak (Table 10) and the change in leakage rate (Table 9) clearly indicates that the two do not necessarily correlate. This will have an effect on the equilibration stage, as described in the section 4.3. Especially for injection far from the leak point (19 meter scenario), some scenarios were successful in leakage remediation but have a very small contribution of chemical remediation (i.e. calcite clogging). Since none of the scenarios reaches the critical volume of calcite of 3.0E-2 (which yields a porosity reduction of 15% to the critical value of 12% after which permeability is assumed to be zero) as we defined for complete permeability impairment, chemical remediation was always less than a 100% (Table 10). There is a sweet spot of high calcite precipitation for medium to high permeabilities (and initial corresponding leakage rate) with low to medium injection rates. It cannot be concluded that higher permeability or faster injection will necessarily be better, but the combination has to be right. However, injection at 19 m distance yields little calcite precipitation above the leak, indicating that the remediation method needs to be practiced close to the leak point at least < 20 m.

Since the combination of injection rate and location for the specific aquifer conditions is of such importance, Figure 7 shows the processes of successful or unsuccessful leakage reduction. We discuss 1) successful clogging with significant calcite precipitation above the leak, 2) partially successful clogging with calcite precipitation but also premature suppression of leakage, stopping further supply of CO<sub>2</sub> and 3) unsuccessful scenarios with calcite porosity clogging before the leak point was reached. The calcite volume fraction in Figure 7 shows the gradually increasing calcite formation for the effective scenario, whereas calcite precipitation stops for the partially successful scenario. This can be explained by the gas saturation, which is reduced to zero and hence no more  $CO_2$ is available for calcite precipitation after all dissolved  $CO_2$  is consumed (Figure 7, middle graph). This indicates that the hydraulic component of remediation should not be too large, as water suppressing the gas migration also stops new supply of  $CO_2$ . Since the leakage rate reduces to zero for both the successful and partially successful scenarios, both appear to be effective in remediation during injection. The figures on the right in Figure 7 clearly illustrate how scenarios can be unsuccessful (bottom figure) as calcite clogging simply occurs at the wrong location. The calcite distribution of the partially successful scenario shows less calcite in the cell above the leak compared to the successful one, but more calcite clogging at a larger distance around the leak. Looking at only the calcite above the leak will therefore not tell the whole story of leakage remediation. Another step of simulations is required to assess if the effectivity of the remediation after the procedure is stopped, which will be discussed in the next chapter.





Figure 7. Three examples of scenarios yielding unsuccessful (2a-19m-10kgs), partially successful (2a-3m-5kgs) and unsuccessful (2a-3m-1kgs) leakage reduction. The graphs on the left show, from top to bottom, the calcite content and gas saturation above the leak and the leakage rate through the leak path. The figures on the right visualize the calcite precipitation in 80 m details of y-axis cross sections of the model.

#### 4.2.2 Effect of reservoir pressure and gas saturation

The previous scenarios were all for the high pressure and gas saturation reservoir (a, Table 8). The hydrostatic (b) and low saturation conditions (c) were tested for the scenario of 200 mD permeability with 11 m distance 5 kg/s/cell injection. The change in leakage rate for the base case reservoir scenario *a* was 100%, for *b* this is -103.8% and for *c* -83.5% for gas and -95.6% for water leakage. Hence *c* is the least effective, but the calcite content shows that b and c are actually both less successful than *a* (Figure 8). These reservoir scenarios have a much lower initial leakage rate (Table 8) and hence  $CO_2$  leakage is more easily suppressed by water injection, limiting the  $CO_2$  supply and calcite precipitation. These scenarios require lower injection rates to achieve the balance between fast enough injection to reach the leak but slow enough to allow for  $CO_2$  supply until clogging is complete.



Figure 8. The calcite content in the cell above the leak for three reservoir scenarios. Scenario b and c first show an increase in calcite similar to scenario a, but calcite precipitation roughly stops after 2 days of injection.

#### 4.2.3 Sensitivity to the porosity-permeability relationship

The sensitivity of leakage reduction towards the porosity-permeability relationship was assessed by varying the Verma-Pruess relation input parameters, the *critical porosity* and the *power law component*. In addition, two other porosity-permeability relationships available for TOUGHREACT were checked, Cubic Law (CL) and Simplified Carmen-Kozeny (SCK). All porosity permeability relationships were tested for the scenario of 200 mD permeability with 3m distance and 1 kg/s/cell injection. With a higher power law exponent, the permeability change is larger when porosity changes. This is illustrated by the similar calcite content but lower permeability for higher power law exponents (12-6 and 12-10 versus the base case 12-8, Table 11).

Table 11. Remediation results for different porosity-permeability relationships. The first number in the scenario name is the critical porosity for complete permeability reduction, the second the power law exponent.

Scenario	Change in leakage rate (%)	Calcite (Vol.Frac)	Permeability (m2)
12-8	-100.0	1.79E-02	1.38E-16
12-6	-79.1	1.86E-02	6.03E-16
12-10	-100.0	1.77E-02	2.61E-17
11-8	-76.0	2.02E-02	7.33E-16
13-8	-100.0	1.45E-02	6.42E-18
CL	-24.3	8.75E-02	1.45E-14
SKC	-24.8	8.73E-02	1.20E-14



With a lower critical porosity, more calcite needs to precipitate in order to clog the pore space and hence the remediation method would be less effective although the calcite content is higher (11-8 and 13-8 versus the base case 12-8, Table 11). Interestingly, scenario 12-6 and 11-8 yield quite similar results, showing that a higher power law component can compensate the higher degree of clogging required. The Cubic Law (CL) and Simplified Carmen-Kozeny (SCK) yield comparable results. Both are characterized by high calcite precipitation but still a high permeability resulting in little leakage reduction and hence remediation success.

#### 4.3 Equilibration

For several scenarios the actual success of the remediation method is numerically assessed by running the equilibration phase after injection of the reactive fluid. Since the 19 m injection scenarios resulted in little to no calcite in the remediation stage these were not considered for equilibration. The 37 remaining remediation scenarios were used for subsequent equilibration. For all equilibration scenarios, the leakage reestablishes to a certain degree, as was expected from the injection stage which indicated a lack of complete clogging. Figure 9 shows examples for the development of the leakage rate. Two of the scenarios were able to stop leakage completely during injection, but the new leakage rate that develops during equilibration varies largely (2a 3m 5kgs and 2a 11m 1kgs, Figure 9). In fact the less successful scenario of the two yields the same final leakage rate as the scenario that never achieved full leakage and supply of  $CO_2$ , the calcite content can even increase during the equilibration stage. It can be concluded that the success of leakage remediation during injection is very different from the actual success after equilibration.



Figure 9. The leakage rate during remediation and equilibration.





The success of remediation after the equilibration phase for scenarios with different permeabilities, injection rates and injection distances are reported in Table 12. The fastest injection rate and the lowest permeability (initial leakage rate) yield little success in remediation. The most successful scenarios are characterised by a medium to high permeability and a low injection rate. The most successful scenarios after equilibration also have the highest calcite precipitation above the leak (Table 10 compared to Table 12).

Table 12. Overview of the change in leakage rate for the different scenarios indicating the remediation success. Scenarios in grey failed to run. The colours show the relative ranking from the best (green) to the worst results (red).

Injection	Permeability	Injection rate				
distance (m)	kh <i>,</i> kv (mD)	1 (kg/s/cell)	5 (kg/s/cell)	10 (kg/s/cell)	20 (kg/s/cell)	
3	20, 2	-33				
3	200, 20	-80	-12	-37		
3	400, 40	-45	-47	-11	-0.1	
3	800, 80	-24	-59	-47	-4	
11	20, 2	-17	-14			
11	200, 20	-16	-95	-8	-6	
11	400, 40	-7	-32	-10	-4	
11	800, 80	-1	-14	-22	-0.2	

## 4.4 Remediation efficiency

It takes increasingly more time for the reactive solution to reach the leak with injection at larger distance. Considering the radial distribution of injected solution, the method becomes less efficient with distance as more volume is required. Flow will not remain radial since it is affected by the clogging process. The extent of the clogging zone varies largely between scenarios (Figure 7), showing that besides the *effectivity* of clogging the *efficiency* of clogging may be very different from one scenario to another. The efficiency of scenarios can be expressed as the total volume of reactive solution injected during the remediation procedure, i.e. until permeability and pressure hamper further injection.



Table 13 shows that the volume injected varies by three orders of magnitude. The most effective scenarios with 45% or more leakage reduction remaining after equilibration are indicated by bold numbers. The variation is significant, even for the best scenarios, indicating that efficiency and effectivity are not well correlated. The volume of the injected fluid and injection time will govern the cost of the remediation method and are therefore of utmost importance for feasibility of this technique.



Table 13. The volume of remediation solution injected for the different scenarios. The volume (kg) is calculated by multiplying the injection rate (kg/s/cell) with the injection time (s).

Injection	Permeability	Injection rate				
distance (m)	kh, kv (mD)	1 (kg/s/cell)	5 (kg/s/cell)	10 (kg/s/cell)	20 (kg/s/cell)	
3	20, 2	8.8E+06				
3	200, 20	2.3E+06	1.2E+07	1.6E+07	2.2E+05	
3	400, 40	1.6E+07	1.2E+07	1.0E+07	2.6E+06	
3	800, 80	1.9E+07	2.6E+06	5.2E+06	2.6E+06	
11	20, 2	9.3E+06	7.8E+06			
11	200, 20	1.1E+07	1.2E+07	5.2E+06	1.6E+07	
11	400, 40	9.8E+06	2.1E+07	5.2E+06	5.2E+06	
11	800, 80	1.6E+07	2.3E+07	1.8E+07	5.2E+06	
19	20, 2	3.4E+06	2.6E+06			
19	200, 20	1.1E+07	1.2E+07	1.6E+07	2.6E+06	
19	400, 40	1.2E+07	3.9E+06	7.8E+06	2.6E+06	
19	800, 80	8.8E+06	1.6E+07	5.2E+06	1.3E+06	



#### 5 **DISCUSSION**

This study shows that remediation of unwanted  $CO_2$  flow to an overlying aquifer could be successful. Yet, large uncertainties in the success of remediation are related to the porosity-permeability relation of calcite precipitation, or formation of any other solid reactant. The actual volume of solid reactant required for full clogging depends heavily on the porosity-permeability relationship. As mentioned by Druhan et al. (2015) and Ito et al. (2014), the porosity-permeability relation is of utmost importance for predicting effective leakage remediation. The sensitivity presented in this paper showed a difference from hardly any remediation to a 100% leakage reduction during remediation depending on the chosen parameters. In the case of intentional salt clogging (Wasch et al., 2013), the same challenge was encountered. It remains a question of debate as to which degree precipitation in the pore space reduces the flow of gas and water. More insights in the porosity-permeability relations need to be obtained through welldesigned experimental studies.

The simulation results also showed that the requirement of  $CO_2$  supply from the leak for calcite formation – in addition to the  $CO_2$  present in the plume – is the main disadvantage of the proposed technique. It requires a delicate balance between injection rate, leakage rate and location of injection in order to achieve sufficient pore blockage. The work of Druhan et al. (2015) also identified the balance between the flow rate through the leak and fluid injection rate as a major influence in the successful placement of the sealant. Delivering a reactive solution at the right location remains a challenge, regardless of the reactant used. The use of swelling silica polymers as used by Druhan et al. (2015) would benefit the method in the sense that less reactant is required to be put in place. However, the stability of such a polymer on the long term is currently not proven. Amorphous silica may become more crystalline over time, a process which is faster at higher temperatures, causing mineral shrinkage and possibly re-established leakage. Besides swelling, delayed precipitation of the solid reactant might take away some difficulties of the remediation method proposed in this report. Instead of the reactivity according to the equilibrium constant and kinetic parameters, engineered solutions with delaying additives could open opportunities for injection further from the leak point as the solid reactant will not precipitate directly upon contact with CO<sub>2</sub>. This would reduce the level of detail of knowledge required of the flow properties of the aquifer and the leak characteristics, properties which are not easily measured. For this reason, the use of substances that increase in volume with some delay would benefit the method, since injection would not be restrained and the solution has time to reach the leak where it can subsequently react to form solids and clog the leakage pathway.



#### 6 CONCLUSION

The use of calcite as a solid reactant is a promising method for leakage remediation due to the natural stability of calcite in the subsurface. This enables the formation of a strong and long-lived barrier against unwanted migration of CO<sub>2</sub>. TOUGHREACT was successfully applied to inject a lime-saturated solution in the vicinity of a CO<sub>2</sub> leak. The reaction of the injected calcium solution with CO<sub>2</sub> caused calcite precipitation blocking the pore space and reducing  $CO_2$  leakage. The method proved to have both a hydraulic and a chemical component, meaning that leakage was partially remediated by chemical precipitation and partially by the pressure of injected water. Since part of the remediation is attributed to water injection which is only a temporary process, stopping injection at the end of the remediation procedure leaves only the chemical clogging. As a result, leakage can partially be re-established. The scenario analyses showed a large variation in the resulting leakage reduction during remediation and afterwards during equilibration. The key parameters including leakage rate, permeability, injection rate and injection distance should be well attuned to achieve a high degree of leakage remediation. In general, fast leakage may contribute to clogging by supplying additional reactive  $CO_2$ . Fast injection of the solution on the other hand may push all the  $CO_2$ away – even causing flow into the leak – thus limiting the reaction with CO<sub>2</sub> and hence clogging with the solid reactant.



Page 25

#### 7 **REFERENCES**

- Bedrikovetsky, P.G., Mackay, E., Montelro, R.P., Gladstone, P.M., Rosário, F.F., 2006. Laboratory and field prediction of sulfate scaling damage. SPE Eighth International Symposium on Oilfield Scale 2006 2006, 309-326.
- Birkle, P., Pruess, K., Xu, T., Hernández Figueroa, R.A., Díaz López, M., Contreras López, E., 2008. Using laboratory flow experiments and reactive chemical transport modeling for designing waterflooding of the Agua Fría Reservoir, Poza Rica-Altamira Field, Mexico. SPE Reserv. Eval. Eng. 11, 1029-1045.
- Cowan, J. and Weintritt, D. 1976. Water-Formed Scale Deposits, 187-188. Houston, Texas: Gulf Publishing Co.
- Cunningham, A.B., Gerlach, R., Spangler, L., Mitchell, A.C., Parks, S., Phillips, A., 2011. Reducing the risk of well bore leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> using engineered biomineralization barriers. Energy Procedia 4, 5178-5185.
- Delshad, M., Pope, G.A., 2003. Effect of Dispersion on Transport and Precipitation of Barium and Sulfate in Oil Reservoirs. SPE Int. Symp. Oilfield Chem., 393-400.
- Druhan J.L., Vialle S, Maher K., Benson S., 2015. Numerical simulation of reactive barrier emplacement to control CO<sub>2</sub> migration. In: Carbon Dioxide Capture for Storage in Deep Geologic Formations – Results from the CO<sub>2</sub> Capture Project. Chapter 45. Ed. K.F. Gerdes. CPL Press and BPCNAI.
- Gaus, I., 2010. Role and impact of CO2-rock interactions during CO<sub>2</sub> storage in sedimentary rocks. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 4, 73-89.
- Giorgis, T., Carpita, M., Battistelli, A., 2007. 2D modeling of salt precipitation during the injection of dry CO<sub>2</sub> in a depleted gas reservoir. Energy Convers. Manage. 48, 1816-1826.
- Ito T., Xu T., Tanaka H., Taniuchi Y., Okamoto A., 2014. Possibility to remedy CO<sub>2</sub> leakage from geological reservoir using CO2reactive grout. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 310–323.
- Izgec O., Demiral B., Bertin H, Akin S., 2005. Calcite precipitation in low temperature geothermal systems: An experimental approach, Proceedings of the Thirtieth Workshop on Geothermal Reservoir Engineering, Stanford University, California, January 31-February 2, 2005, SGP-TR-176
- Kleinitz, W., Koehler, M., Dietzsch, G., 2001. The Precipitation of Salt in Gas Producing Wells.
- Kühn M., Vernoux J.F., Kellner T., Isenbeck-Schröter M., Schulz H.D., 1997. Onsite experimental simulation of brine injection into a clastic reservoir as applied to geothermal exploitation in Germany, Applied Geochemistry, 13(4), 477-490
- Mitchell, A.C., Phillips, A.J., Hiebert, T., Gelrach, R., Spangler, L.H., Cunningham, A.B.,2009. Biofilm enhanced geologic sequestration of supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 3 (1), 90–99.
- Moghadasi J., Jamialahmadi M., Müller-Steinhagen H., Sharif A., 2004. Formation Damage Due to Scale Formation in Porous Media Resulting From Water Injection. SPE-86524-MS. SPE International Symposium and Exhibition on Formation Damage Control, 18-20 February, Lafayette, Louisiana.



- Mota, R.O., Bezerra, M.C.M., Rosario, F.F., Prais, F., 2004. Forecasts and alternative analysis for sulphate removal or chemical treatments for barium and strontium scale deposition Offshore Brazil. Proceedings SPE Sixth International Symposium on Oilfield Scale; Exploring the Boundaries of Scale Control, 393-402.
- Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Raju, K.U., Hilab, V.V., Esmail, O.J., 2004. Injection of incompatible water as a means of water shut-off. Proc. SPE Int. Symp. Oilfield Scale Exploring Boundaries Control, 291-303.
- Palandri, J., Kharaka, Y.K., 2004. A compilation of rate parameters of water-mineral interaction kinetics for application to geochemical modeling. In: US Geological Survey Open File Report 2004-1068. USGS.
- Parkhurst, D.L., Appelo, C.A.J., 1999. User's Guide to PHREEQC (Version 2) A Computer Program for Speciation, Batch Reaction, One-Dimensional Transport, and Inverse Geochemical Calculations. Report 99-4259. US Geological Survey Water Resources Investigations.
- Pruess, K., 2005. ECO2N: A TOUGH2 Fluid Property Module for Mixtures of Water, NaCl, and CO<sub>2</sub>. Earth Sciences Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Pruess K, Oldenburg C and Moridis G, TOUGH2 User's Guide, Version 2.0. Report LBNL-43134. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA (1999)
- Pruess, K., Müller, N., 2009. Formation dry-out from CO<sub>2</sub> injection into saline aquifers: 1. effects of solids precipitation and their mitigation. Water Resour. Res. 45.
- Xu, T., Sonnenthal, E., Spycher, N., Pruess, K., 2006. TOUGHREACT a simulation program for non-isothermal multiphase reactive geochemical transport in variably saturated geologic media: applications to geothermal injectivity and CO<sub>2</sub> geological sequestration. Comput. Geosci. 32, 145–165.
- Regenspurg S., Wiersberg T., Brandt W., Huenges E., Saadat A., Schmidt K., Zimmermann G., 2010. Geochemical properties of saline geothermal fluids from the in-situ geothermal laboratory Groß Schöonebeck (Germany), Chemie der Erde, 70(3), 3-12
- Rocha, A.A., Frydman, M., da Fontoura, S.A.B., Rosario, F.F., Bezerra, M.C.M., 2001. Numerical Modeling of Salt Precipitation During Produced Water Reinjection.
- Tambach, T.J., Loeve, D., Hofstee, C., Plug, W.J., Maas, J.G., 2014. Effect of CO<sub>2</sub> Injection on Brine Flow and Salt Precipitation After Gas Field Production. Transport in Porous Media.
- Tarcan G., 2005. Mineral saturation and scaling tendencies of waters discharged from wells (>150°C) in geothermal areas of Turkey, Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research, 142, 263-283
- Zeidouni, M., Pooladi-Darvish, M., Keith, D., 2009. Analytical solution to evaluate salt precipitation during CO2 injection in saline aquifers. Int. J. Greenh. Gas Control 3, 600-611.
- Wasch L.J., Wollenweber J. and Tambach T.J., 2013, A novel concept for long-term CO<sub>2</sub> sealing by intentional salt clogging, GHG:S&T, Vol 3 (6), p. 491-502, 2013.